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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PREPARATION
AND APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2017

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present fairly
the financial position of LLC Georgian International Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries (the
"croup") as of 31 December 2017, and the consolidated results of its operations, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

c'rFRs").

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for;

. Properly selecting and applying accounting policies;

. Presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

. Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS are
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Group's consolidated financial position and financial performance;

. Making an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also responsible for'

. Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of anternal controls,
throughout the Group;

. 14aintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the consolidated financial position
of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the
Group comply with IFRS;

. Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with local legislation and accounting
standards;

. Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and

. Detecting and preventing fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 were approved
by the Management on 4 May 2078.
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4 May 2018
Tbilisi, Georgia

4 May 2018
Tbilisi, Georgia

On behalf of the Ma
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Deloitte. Deloitte & Touche LLC
36A Lado Asatiani Street
Tbilisi,0105,
Georqia

Tel: +995 (32) 224 45 66
Fax| +995 (32) 224 45 69

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Owners and Management of LLc Georgian International Energy Corporation:

opinion

we have audited the consolidated financial statements of LLC Georgian International Energy

Corporation (hereinafter the "Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group"), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in

accordance with International Financial Reporting standards ("lFRS")

Basis for Opinion

we conducted our audit in accordance with International standards on Auditing ("lsA"). our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the consolidated Financial statements section of our report. we are independent of

the crouD in accordance with the International Ethics standards Board for Accountants' code of
Ethics fo; professional Accountants (the "IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting standards, and for
such internal control as manaqement determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated iinancial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group;s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so'

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reportin9
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statemlnts as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and

to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance. but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with IsAs will always

Delortr€ refe.s to one o. more or Deto tte Touche Tohmatsu L mrted, a l-rK p vate company limted by gudr.ntee COTIL"), its networkor
m;mbe.nms, a^d ther retatea entiir€s. oTTLand each ofits member firms ae leoaly separate and ndependent ennties oTTL {ale
referEdtols"Delott€G|ob!l-)d@snotplovidesefu|cestoc]|lab.|tfor.moredeb||eddesdipton
of DTTL and i|9 member im9

<r 2018 oeb'ne&Touche LLC Allnqhts EsePed.
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Deloitte.

detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud oT erToT and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAS, we exeTcise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throuqhout the audit. we also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consoladated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control,

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a 9oin9 concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion, Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a goin9 concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated iinancial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

l\ ^ | I \lF--- i€,tl-
John Robinson
on behalf of Deloitte and Touche LLC



GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

3l December 3l December
In thousands of Georgian Lari Notes 2Ot7 2016

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equiPment
Investment ProPerties
Goodwill
Investments in associates
Loans issued
Intangible assets
Other non-current assets

5,6
7

8

250,047
41,475

830

392
1,418

98,811
51,401

747
25

303
|,4O4

Curr€nt assets
Inventories
Loans issued
Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

10
8

11

12

29,146
22,132

212
2,652

7,077
16,737
33,625

6,610

TOTAL ASSETS 357,066 218,035

EQUITY
Charter capital
Retained earnings

13 7,720
226,253

:I

]''

-

i

t

Equity attributable to:
Owner of the Company
Non-controlling interest

233,973
1,792

89,102
1,881

-ioral eeurw zes,zss go.ggg

I

t
;

-

-

I

i

!

i

i

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Trade and other payables
Taxes payable
Borrowings

t4 59,860 66,85s

-i6tat no*c"r.rent tiaOitities 59,860 66'855

current liabilities
15

14

22,306
1,013

38,122

25,901
735

33,561

TOTAL LIABILITIES I21'3O1 I27'O52

TOTAL LTABILITIES AND EQUITY 357'066 2I8'O35

d on behalf of the Management on 4 May 201E1

l'lalkhaz Iaseshvili
Operational Director

4 May 2018
Tbilisi, Georgia

4 l4ay 2018
Tbilisi, Georgia

l!l:tll:!l
1:ril:r!l'

The accompanying notes set out on pages 8 to 44 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

In thousands of Georqian La Notes 2Ot7 zOL6

Revenues
Cost of sales

130,832
(92,3s2)

126,L73
(82,L77)

Gross grofit 38,480 43,996

Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses
Other operating expenses, net

18
19

20

(12,5s8)
(8,973)
(1,03s)

( 13,381)
(8,134)
(2,s00)

I

l

J
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I
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Lrl

L,!

L.
t!

Galn on revaluation of investment properties

Finance income
Finance costs
Share of profit of associates

Operatinq profit 15'914 19'981

303

(15,024)
548

profit before income tax 13.436 7,727

Income tax benefit 9 - 13'770

7 1,492
4,084

(8,47s)
421

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income

Owner of the Company
Non-controlling interest

13,435 21,497

Total co.nprehensive income 13'436 21,497

Total comprehensive income attfbutable tol
13,468

(32) (48)

Total comprehensive income t3,436 2t,497

on behalf of the lilanagenient on 4 May 2OlE!

4 l"1ay 2018
Tbilisi, Georgla

!t

i

x

c

4 lYay 2018
Tbilisi, GeorgiaIt
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The accompanying notes set out on pages B to 44 form an integral part of these consolldated financial statements
5
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Attributable to the owne. of the
Company

Non-
controlli.rgChnrter Retained

In tlrousards ot Georgla, Lari capital earnings Total interests Total

At l January 2016 2,595 69,76A 72,363 2,125 74AAA

Total comprehensive income
Dividends declared
Increase in ownership interest of LLC Adiara Autogas

21,545 2Lt545
(4,7oo) (4,7OO)
(106) (106)

(48) 2r,497
(117) g,Ar7)
(79) (18s)

At 31 December 2016 89,1O2 90,943

.:t

.:l

:l

:l

:l

-

:t

:-

Total comprehensive income
Dividends declared
Increase in charter capital
Additional contributlon from parent

- 13,468 13,464
- (4,600) (4,600)

5,125 - 
'r2s- 130,878 13o,a7a

(32)
(s7l

L3,436
(4,6s7)

5 tl25
13O,878

At 31 December 2017 7t72O 226,253 233,973 r,792 235,765

r!t-
ai
it

-::!
:=
rt
!_!tr
l-l_ttt-l-_rI
L-rlt-L-rlt-L-_rtt-L-tl
t-L-
tl

L-
LI

L-_tl
L-rl
L-t!

I

4 lvlay 2018
Tbilisi, Georgia

on b€half of the l.aanagement on 4 May 2OlE:

4 May 2018
Tbilisi, Georgia

The accompanying notes set out on pages 8 to 44 form an integral part of these consolldated flnanclal statements.
o



GEORGIAN TNTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

:

l

i

-

:

i
;

i

i

In thousands of Georqian Lari NoleE ?q!Z 2016

cash flows from operating activiti€s
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers

161,285
( 110,109)

105,052
(62,s04)

Cash Daid to employees (a,961) (8,379)
42t215
(8,310)

(17,575)

Cash generated from operations
Interest oaad

Taxes Daid, net

35.169
(7,673)

(10,412)

Net cash from operating activitie3 16'330 17'084
I

(7)

l!

t:
l:

t_
lI

t:
II

t_
ll

t_
L:l

L:
L!

L:
L'

L_-Itt:
Itt:t!
1_tlt:
IIl:
II

t_tl
t_r!t:lt
1:rlt:
l!

1:
ll

t"_
flt:r-l
1:r.{t:t-l

t-

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of additional ownership interest in
subsidiary/associate, net of cash acquired
Increase (decrease) in charter capital
Dividend received from associates
Loans disbursed
Reoayment of Ioans issued
Interest received
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of investment property

Proceeds from sale of investment property
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from 5ale of property, plant and equipment

338
(2O,799)

10,528

(272)

(e,4e8)
32

(116)

233
( 17,151)

11,019
995
(76)

t47 s)
212

(6,0231

Net cash usad in investing .ctivities (13,221) (11'347)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds f rom borrowin gs

Repayment of borowings
Dividends paid

28,2O4
(3O,2O7 )
(5,061)

37,166
(34,900)
(4,327)

Net cash fiom financing activities (7'060) (2,06t)

Effect of exchanqe rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,958) 3,744

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6,610 2,466

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

For the year ended 31 December 2017 revenue recognised under barter transaction equalled to GEL zero. (For

2015: GEL 18,627 thousand)-

Apgroved for issue and on behalf of the ilanagement on 4 May 2O18i

2,652 6,61O

Malkhaz laseshvili
Operataonal Director

4 May 2018
Tbilisi, Geor9ia

4 May 2018
Tbilisi, Georgia

The accompanying notes set out on pages 8 to 44 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
7
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

I

t

t

I

1. INTRODUCTION

LLC Georgian International Enerqy Corporation (the "Company" or "GIEC") was incorporated on
11 July 2005 and is domiciled in Georgia, The Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as the "Group" or "GIEC Group") have been set up as limited liability companies in accordance
with Georgian regulations.

As of 31 December 2077 and 2016 the Company's immediate parent company was LLC Georgian
Industrial Group Holding and the Company was ultimately controlled by Mr. David Bejhuashvili.

Principal activity. The Company is a parent of a group of companies incorporated in Georgia,
whose primary business activities include generation of electricity, operating of gas refuelling
stations, testing of gas equipped vehicles, as well as development and disposal of investment
properties,

Electricity is generated by a thermal power plant ("Tbilsresi") and 8 hydro power plants located
throughout Georgia and controlled by the Group. Electricity is sold to various private companies
and to a state-established LLC Electricity System Commercial Operator ("ESCO"). The thermal
power plant ("TPP") has an installed capacity of 272 megawatts and its tariffs for sales to ESCO

are regulated by statute- Each of the hydro power plants has an installed capacity of less than 13
megawatts and their tariffs are not subject to regulation by statute.

The Company is engaged in barter transactions with an Armenian-based thermal power plant
operator, whereby GIEC supplies electricity in exchange for natural gas. Natural 9as is also
purchased from major gas suppliers operating in the Caucasus region and capable of making
large-volume deliveries. Major 9as customers are large Georgian industrial companies and
networks of natural 9as refuelling stations. The Group is also involved in the retail business of
sale of gas through its own refuelling stations.

The Company is a parent of a group of companies incorporated in Georgia, whose primary
business activities include development and disposal of investment properties, operation oi 9as
refuelling stations, testing of gas equipped vehicles, as well as generation of electricity.

These consolidated financial statements include the following principal subsidiaries:

i
t

i
t

I

I

I

:l

:l

I

I

I

rl

i

I

I
.l

31 December
ZOLT 31 December 2015 Year of

Ownership/voting Ownership/voting acquisition/
subsidiary o/o o/o establishment Industrv

t

:I

LLC Batumi City
LLC Power Trade
LLC Neogas
LLC C Power

LLC Power Export

LLC Ritseulahesa
LLC Adjara Autogas
LLC Mobilgorigas
LLC Georglan Hydro
Power EPC

LLC Delta P

LLC X Gazi
LLC Akhalgas
LLC Ibergas

100.0o/o

100.0o/o

100.0olo

100.0olo

100.0olo

88.5olo
74.00/o

55.0o/o

51.00/o

50.0olo

50.oo/"
50.0olo

50.0olo

100.0%
100.0%
100.0olo

100.0olo

100.0olo

88.5%
74.Oo/o

55.0olo

51.0olo

50.0olo

50.0olo

50.00/.
50.0!/o

2011
2012
20t4
2015

2017

2008
2009
2011

2012

2015
2012
2010
2010

Real estate development
Electricity tradinq
Gas refuelling operator
Electricity generation
Gas equipped vehicle
testing
Electricity generation
Gas refuelling operator
Gas refuelling operator

HPP engineering

Gas refuelling operator
Gas refuelling operator
Gas refuelling operator
Gas rcfuelling operator

! In 2017 no acquisition/increase of additional ov{nership interest has taken place.

In 2016 the Company acquired an additional 14olo in LLC Adjara Autogas and increased rts
ownershiD share uD to 74olo.!

.

.

i
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

Registered address and place of business. The company's registered address is at #66 stalin
Street, Tetritskaro Region 2309, Georgia. The Company's principal place of business is at #2
David Aghmashenebeli Street, Gardabani 1300, Georgia.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed 1,019 employees (31 December 2016: 964
emproyeesJ.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance' fhe consolidated financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

Basis of preparatiot' The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties are measured at revalued amountsf as

explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that p;ice is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liabllity at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level

1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

r Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inDUts are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Functional and presentation cuffency. The national currency of Georgia is the Georgian Lari
("GEL"), which is the functional currency of the Company, its subsidiaries and associates and the
iurrency in which the Group's consolidated financial statements are presented. All dmounts
presented in the consolidated financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand.

Basis of consolidation. Ihe consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company Teassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one oT more of the three elements of control listed above.
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

When the company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

. thesizeof thecompany's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings
of the other vote holders;

. potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

. rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have,
the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a

subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the
date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is

attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results
in the non controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

changes in the Group's ownershiP intercsts in existing subsidiaries. Changes in the
GrouD's ownershio interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's
interests and the non- controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss and is

calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsididry and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as

specified/permitted by applicable IFRS5). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations. Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

10
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, exceot that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 and IAS 19
respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date; and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measuTed in accordance with
that Standard,

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Ii, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase 9arn.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transacton-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideratlon that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments
against goodwill, Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the'measurement period' (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on ho$, the contingent consideration is
classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subseouent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assefs, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss,

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment
would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of,

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting
period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the
measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acouisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill, Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the
date of acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

11
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergres of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually. or
more fr;quently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount oi the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is

allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit Any

impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised

for goodwill rs not reversed in subsequent periods

On disposai of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included

in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal

pufchases of subsidiafies frqm parties under common confror. Purchases of subsidiaries
from parties under common control are accounted for using the predecessor values method. The

results of the acquired entities are incorporated from the date on which the business combination
between entities under common control occurred. The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
transferred under common control are at the predecessor entity's carrying amounts. The
predecessor entity is considered to be the highest reporting entity in which the subsidiary's IFRS

iinancial information was consolidated. Related goodwill inherent in the predecessor entity's
original acquisitions is also recorded in these consolidated financial statements. Any difference
between the carrying amount of net assetsf including the predecessor entity's goodwill and the
consideration for the acquisition is accounted for in these consolidated financial statements as an

adjustment to the retained earnings within equity.

Associates. Associates are entities over which the Company has significant influence (directly or
indirectly), but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20 and 50 percent

of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of

accounting and are initially recognised at cost. Dividends received from associates reduce the
carrying v;lue of the investment in associates. Other post-acquisition changes in croup's share of
net assets of an associate are recognised as follows: (i) the Group's share of profits or losses of
associates is recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as share of result of associates, (ii) the Group's share of other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income and presented separately, (iii); all other changes in

the Group,s share of the carrying value of net assets of associates are recognised in profit or loss

within the share of result of associates

However, when the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Foreign cuffencies, In preparing the consolidated financial statements of each individual group

entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity's functional currency (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing by National Bank of Georgia at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing by National Bank of Georgia at that date. Non

monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign curTencies are retrdnslated
at the rates prevailing by National Bank of Georgia at the date when the fair value was

determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they arise except for exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relatin9 to assets

under construction for future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when

they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrow'ngs'
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OI7 (CONTINUED)

The exchange rates used by the croup in the preparation of the consoladated financial statements
as at year end are as followsl

3l December 31 Dec€mber
20t7 2015
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GEVl US DoIIaT

GEV1 Eufo

2.5922
3.1044

2.6464
2.7940
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At present, the Georgian Lari is not a freely convertible currency in most countries outsjde of
Georg ia.

Property, plant and equipment Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, where required

Cost of replacing major parts or components of property, plant and equipment items are
capitalised and the replaced part is retired. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised if future
economic benefits will arise from the expenditure. Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are
expensed when incurred.

At the end of each reporting period management assesses whether there is any indication of
impairment of property, plant and equipment. If any such indication exists, management
estimates the recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset's fair value less
costs to sell and its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and
the impairment loss is recoqnised in profit or loss for the year. An impairment loss recognised for
an asset in prior years is reversed where appropriate if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the asset's value in use or fair value less costs to sell.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
within other operating income and expenses.

Depreciation. Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of property, plant and
equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives:

Useful lives in years

I

Buildings and constructions
Hydro-technical structures
Gas pipelines
I\4achinery and equipment
l'lotor vehicles - heavy trucks
llotof vehicles - light cars
Fixtures and fittings

10 to 50 years
5 to 60 years
5 to 40 years

5 - 30 years
5 to 20 years
5 to 15 years
2 - 10 years

I

.

I

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain
from disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the
age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The assets'residual values and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Investment propertf, Investment property is property held by the Group to earn rental income
or for capital appreciation, or both and which is not occupied by the Group. Investment property
is initially recognised at cost, including transaction costs, and subsequently remeasured at fair
value updated to reflect market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Market value of the Group's investment property is determined based on reports of independent
appraisers, who hold a recognised and relevant professional qualification and who have recent
experience in valuation of property of similar location and category.

Earned rental income is recorded in profit or loss for the year within other operating income.
Gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of investment property are recorded in
profit or loss for the year and presented separately.

i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognized.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and
equipment, and its carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost for
account|ng purposes.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset's carrying amount only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred.

Operating leases, Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership from the lessor to the Group, the total lease
payments are charged to profit or loss for the year on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The lease term is the non-cancellable period for r"rhich the lessee has contracted to lease the
asset together with any further terms for which the lessee has the option to continue to lease the
asset, with or without further payment, when at the inception of the lease it is reasonably certain
that the lessee will exercise the oDtion,

Intangible assets. The Group's intangible assets other than goodwill have definite useful lives
and primarily include acquired computer and accounting software licences which are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation, Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives f.om the date the asset is available for use, The estimated useful live
for computer software licenses are determined to be 5 years and accounting software for 10
veaT5.

fncome taxes. In May 2016, the parliament of Georgia approved a change in the current
corporate taxation model, with changes applicable on l January 2017 for all entities apart from
certain financial institutions. The changed model implies zero corporate tax rate on retained
earnings and a 15o/o corporate tax rate on distributed earnings, compared to the previous model
of 15olo tax rate charged to the company's profit before tax, regardless of the retention or
distribution status.

The new profit tax rules are effective as of 1 January 2017, which applies to the company and the
tax base comprise both actual and deemed profit distributions, including the following:

. Distributed Drofits;

. Expenses incurred or other payments not related to economic activities;

. Gratuitous supplies of goods/services and/or transfers of funds; and

. Reoresentation exDenses that exceed the maximum amount defined in the tax code.

Income tax on distributed profits is recognized as an expense at the moment dividends are
declared and recorded under "income tax" in the statement of profit or loss. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities for current and previous periods are measured at the amount expected to be
obtained from or paid to tax authorities,

Tax imposed on the areas other than distributed profits as described above is recorded under
"Taxes and duties" in the statement of profit and loss.

As a result of the new legislation the Company ceased recognising income tax expense when
profits are earned and will only incur income tax charges in the event of a distribution of profits.
All deferred tax balances were released and recognized in the statement of profit and loss for the
period ended 31 December 2016.

value added tax ('yA7',), output VAT related to sales is payable to tax authorities upon delivery
of the goods to customers. Input VAT is generally recoverable against output VAT upon receipt of
the VAT invoice. The tax authorities permit the settlement of VAT on a net basis. VAT related to
sales and purchases is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position on a net
basis per each croup entjty and disclosed as either an asset oT a liability. Where provision has
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

been made for impairment of receivables, impairment loss is recorded for the gross amount of the
debtor, including VAT.

Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of
inventories is determined on the weighted average cost basis and includes expenditure incurred in
acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated selling
expenses.

Financial instruments - key measut ement terms, Financial instruments are carried at
amortized cost as described below.

Transaction cosfs aTe incremental costs that are directly attributabie to the acquisition, issue or
disposal of a financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if
the transaction had not taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to
agents (including employees acting as selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by
regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do
not include debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding
costs.

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial instrument was recognised at initial
recognition less any principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any
write-down for incurred impairment losses. Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction
costs deferred at initial recognition and of any premium or dascount to maturity amount using the
effective interest method. Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both
accrued coupon and amortised discount or premium (including fees deferred at origination, if
any), are not presented separately and a.e included in the carrying values of related items in the
statement of financial position.

fhe effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate)
on the carrying amount. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts (excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
instrument. The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest instruments to the
next interest repricing date, except for the premium or discount which reflects the credit spredd
over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market
rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised over the whole expected life of the instrument.
The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received betv,/een parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Financial assets. The Group classifies its financial assets into "loans and receivables"
measurement category.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable oavments
that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities
greater than 12 months after the reporting date. These are classified as non-cuTTent assets.

The Group's loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, loans issued and cash
and cash equivalents,

frade and other receivables and loans issued. Trade and other receivables and loans are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

cash and cash equivalents. cash and cash equivalents comprlse cash in hand and cash
deposited in banks due on demand or with original maturities of less than three months. Cash
and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financiat asseF carried at amortised cost Impairment losses are recognised
in profit or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events ("loss events") that occurred
after the initial recognition of the financial asset and which have an impact on the amount or
timing of the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. If the Group determines that no objective evidence exists that
impairment was incurred for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment. The primary factors that the Group considers in
determining whether a financial asset is impaired are its overdue status and realisability of
related collateral, if any. The following other principal criteria are also used to determine whether
there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred:

. any portion or instalment is overdue and the late payment cannot be attributed to a delay
caused by the settlement systems;

. the counterparty experiences a significant financial difficulty as evidenced by its financial
information that the GrouD obtains;

. the counterparty considers bankruptcy or a financial reorganisation;

. there is adverse change in the payment status of the counterparty as a result of changes in
the national or local economic conditions that impact the counterparty; or

. the value of collateral, if any, significantly decreases as a result of deteriorating market
conditions,

If the terms of an impaired financial asset held at amortised cost are renegotiated or otherwise
modified because of financial difficulties of the counterparty, impairment is measured using the
original effective interest rate before the modification of terms.

Impairment losses are always recognised through an allowance account to write down the asset's
carrying amount to the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the original effective interest rate of the asset. The
calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial
asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling
the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
by adjusting the allowance account through profit or loss for the year. Uncollectible assets are
written off against the related impairment loss provision after all the necessary procedures to
recover the asset have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to impairment loss account
within the profit or loss for the year.

Financial liabilities. The Group's Rnancial liabilities include trade and other payables and
borrowings.

Trade and other payables. frcde and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Trade
oavables are stated inclusive of value added tax.

Borrowings. Borrowings are recognised initially at their fair values less transaction costs
incurred. Fair value is determined using the prevailing market rate of interest for a similar
instrument. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, with any difference between the amount at initial recognition and
redemption amount being recognised in profit or loss as an interest expense over the period of
the borrowings,
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that
necessarily take a substantial time to get ready for intended use or sale (qualifying assets) are
caDitalised as Dart of the costs of those assets.

The commencement date for capitalisation is when (a) the Group incurs expenditures for the
qualifying asset; (b) it incurs borrowing costs; and (c) it undertakes activities that are necessary
to oreDare the asset for its intended use or sale.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs continues up to the date when the assets are substantially ready
for their use or sale.

The Group capitalises borrowing costs that could have been avoided if it had not made capital
expenditure on qualifying assets. Borrowing costs capitalised are calculated at the group's
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

average funding cost (the weighted average interest cost is applied to the expenditures on the
qualifying assets), except to the extent that funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset. Where this occurs, actual borrowing costs incurred less any
investment income on the temporary investment of those borrowings are capitalised.

Initial recognition of financial instrumenF. All financial instruments are initially recorded at
fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the
transaction price, A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a difference
between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable current
market transactions an the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs include only
data from observable markets.

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established
by regulation or market convention ("regular way" purchases and sales) are recorded at trade
date, which is the date on which the Group commits to deliver a financial asset. All other
purchases are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Derecognition of financial assets, The Group derecognises financial assets when (a) the assets
are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the assets otherwise expire or (b) the Group has
transferred the rights to the cash flows from the financial assets or entered into a qualifyinq pass-
through arrangement while (i) also transferring substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of
the assets or (ii) neither transferring nor retaining substantially all risks and rewards of ownership
but not retaining control, Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability
to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose additional
restrictions on the sale.

Prepayments. Prepayments are carried at cost less provision for impairment. A prepayment is

classified as non-current when the goods or services relating to the prepayment are expected to
be obtained after one year, or when the prepayment relates to an asset which will itself be
classified as non-cuTTent upon initial recognition. Prepayments to acquire assets are transferred to
the carrying amount of the asset once the Group has obtained control of the asset and it is
Drobable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group. Other
prepayments are written off to profit or loss when the goods or services relating to the
prepayments are received. If there is an indication that the assetsr goods or services relating to a
prepayment will not be received, the carrying value of the prepayment is written down
accordingly and a correspondinq impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Charter capital, The amount of authorised charter capital is defined by the Company's charter'
The changes in the Company's charter shall be made only based on the decision of the company's
owner. The authorised capital is recognised as charter capital in the equity of the Company to the
extent that it was contributed by the owner to the Company,

Dividends. Dividends are recorded as a liability and deducted from equity in the period in which
they are declared and approved. Any dividends declared after the reporting period and before the
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue are disclosed in the subsequent events
note.

Provisions for liabilities and charges, Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial
liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. They are accrued when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obliqation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of
the amount of the obligation can be made. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash florivs at a pre-tax rdte that reflects current market
assessments of the tame value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Revenue recognitiot, Revenues from the sale of gas and electricity are recognised on the basis
of metered delivery to and/or usage by customers.

Available capacity fee for Tbilsresi thermal power plant is recognised based on the number of
days the plant is available to supply electricity at its installed capacity. Daily availability tariff is

set by Georgian National Energy and Water Supply Regulatory Commission.

Sales are shown net of VAT and discounts,
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. When the
fair value of goods received in a barter transaction cannot be measured reliably, the revenue is

measured at the fair value of the goods or service given up.

Barter transactions and mutual cancellations. A portion of sales and purchases are settled
by mutual cancellations, barter or non-cash settlements. These transactions are generally in the
form of direct settlements by dissimilar goods and services from the final customer (barter),
cancellation of mutual balances or through a chain of non-cash transactions Involving several
comDanieS.

Sales and purchases that are expected to be settled by mutual settlements, barter or other non-
cash settlements are recognised based on management's estimate of the fair value to be received
or qiven up in non-cash settlements. The fair value is determined with reference to observable
market information.

Finance income and expenses. Finance income and expenses comprise interest expense on

borrowings, interest income on loans issued, interest accrued on bank deposits and foreign
exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents.

Employee benefits. Wages, salaries, paid annual leave, sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated seryices are rendered by the employees
of the Group. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to make pension or similar benefit
DavmentS.

Offsetting. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities !'ithin the
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the
process of applying the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most significant effect on

the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements and estimates that can cause a

significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year include:

Consolidation of subsidiaries. Group's management applied judgements in respect with the
entities vvhere the Group has 50o/o shareholdings (Refer to Note 1). The Group has the power to
aDDoint and remove directors and has the power to direct the relevant financial and operational
activities as the management member of the Company is also director of these entities.
Therefore, management of the Company concluded that the Group effectively controls these
entities. Therefore, the Group fully consolidated such entities in these consolidated financial
statements.

Initial recognition of related party transactions.In the normal course of business, the Group
enters into transactions with its related parties. IAS 39 requires initial recognition of financial
instruments based on their fair values. Judgement is applied in determining if transactions are
Driced at market or non-maTket interest rates, where there is no active market for such
transactions. The basis for judgement is pricing for similar types of transactions with unrelated
parties and effective interest rate analysis. Terms and conditions of related party balances are
disclosed in Note 26.

aJseful lives of property, plant and equipment' The estimation of the useful lives of items of
property, plant and equipment is a matter ofjudgment based on the experience with similar
assets. The future economic benefits embodied in the assets are consumed principally through
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3l

use. However. other factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence and wear and tear,
often result in the diminution of the economic benefits embodied in the assets. Management
assesses the remaining useful lives in accordance with the current technical conditions of the
assets and estimated period during which the assets aTe expected to earn benefits for the Group,
The following primary factors are considered: (a) expected usage of the assets; (b) expected
physical wear and tear, which depends on operational factors and maintenance programme; and
(c) technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes in market conditions.

Valuation of investment properties. Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
reports prepared by an independent appraiser at the end of each reporting period.

In preparing the valuation reports on the Group's investment property, the external appraiser
excluded distressed sales when considering compdrable sales prices. For each piece of investment
property, three market comparatives were identified. As comparatives were somewhat different
from the appraised properties, the quoted prices of the comparatives were further adjusted based
on the differences in their location, condition, size, accessibility, age and expected discounts to be
achieved through negotiations with the vendors. Comparative prices per square meter so
determined were then multiplied by the area of the valued property to arrive at the appraised
value of the investment property.

Management has reviewed the appraisers' approach to the selection of the comparative properties
and assumptions underlying the adjustments to quoted market prices and confirmed that the
approach adopted and conclusions reached were reasonable in the circumstances.

Capitalization of expenses, Construction in Note 6 includes capitalized expenditures including,
but not limited to investment project planning, financial analysis and presentations, planning and
executing budgeting and reporting process, legal services, technical design engineering and other
services required for the construction asset. These services are provided by LLC Georgian
Industrial Group, the entity under common control in accordance with an agreement between LLC
C-Power and LLC Georgian Industrial Group dated on 1 May 2015.

In making their judgment, the management considered the detailed criteria for capitalization of
expenditures set out in IAS 16, in particular, whether carried costs are required to bring the asset
to the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the
management for the periods of active development of the asset, Following the detailed analysis of
expenditures/ the management is satisfied that the capitalized expenditures are an integral part
of the construction and are required to bring the asset to the condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by the management for the periods of active
development of the asset. The estimation of the budgeted hours and the pricing of these services
was done by the management internally based on the experience with similar services provided
on the market. The total investment cost is expected to be in the range of USD 180-250m out of
which in total, GEL 2,8 m will be formed by these capitalized costs from LLC Georgian Industrial
G rou p.

Determination of fair value - The fair value of the assets acouired from an entitv under
common control was determined by an independent valuation expert using recognised valuation
techniques. The valuation experts adopted the market and cost approach method for the
valuation of the acquired assets due to the merger and determined replacement cost. The value
in use of the assets has been determined based on a number of significant assumptions.

The present value of future cash flows was computed on an pre-tax basis by applying forecast
prices of domestic deregulated sales tariff (7 Cents kwh increasing by 2olo inflation in every year)
and power purchase agreement sales tariff (7.9 Cents kwh increasing by 2olo inflation on every
year) to estimated sales volume of domestic deregulated sales (982,800,000 kwh) and power
purchase agreement sales (236,359,200 kwh), less estimated expenditures including cost of coal
(estimated based on consumed volume of 754,159 tons on every year multiplied by forecasted
price USD 59.2 increasing by 2% inflation on every year), operating expenses and property tax.
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OI7 (CONTINUED)

4. APPLICATTON OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (IFRS)

Amendments to IFRss affecting amounts reported in the financial statements

In the current year, the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been
adopted and have affected the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements:

. Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative;

. Annual Improvements to IFRSS 2014-2016 Cycle - amendments to IFRS 12.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments
require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, includinq both cash and non-cash changes.

The Group's liabilities arising from iinancing activities consist of borrowings (note 14). A
reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of these items is provided in note 14.
Consistent with the transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has not disclosed
comparative information for the prior period. Apart from the additional disclosure in note 14, the
application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Annual fmprovements to IFRSS - 2014-2015 Cycle

The Group has applied the amendments to IFRS 12 included in the Annual Improvements to
IFRSS 2014-2016 Cycle for the first time in the current year. The other amendments included in
this package are not yet mandatorily effective and they have not been early adopted by the
company (see the list of new and revised IFRss in issue but not yet effective below).

IFRS 12 states that an entity need not provide summa.ised financial information for interests in
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures that are classified (or included in a disposal group that is

classified) as held for sale. The amendments clarify that this is the only concession from the
disclosure requirements of IFRS 12 for such interests,

The application of these amendments has had no effect on the Group's financial statements.

New and revised IFRSS in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSS that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

. IFRS 9 Financial Instrumentst;

. IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (and the related Cla rifications) 1 ;

. IFRS 16 Leases2;

. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3;

. IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Considerationl;

. IFRIC 23 lJncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments2;

. Amendments to IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactionsr;

. Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or loint Venture4;

. Amend ments to IAS 40 - Tra nsfers of Investment Propertyi ;

. Amendments to IFRS 4 - Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFR5 4 Insurance
Contractsr;

. Amendments to IFRS 9 - Prepayment Features With Negattve Compensationz;

. Amendments to IAS 28 - Long-Term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures2;
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle';

. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle2.

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application
permitted.
2 Effective for annual periods beginninq on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application
permitted.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application
permitted.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. Earlier application is

permitted.

Except for the below listed items the Group does not anticipated that new and revised IFRSS in

issue but not effective has imoact on the consolidated financial statements.

tFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measuTement of financial liabilities and for derecognition,
and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another
revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements
for financial assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a'fair value through other comprehensive income'(FVTOCI)
measuTement category for certain simple debt instruments.

The key requirements of IFRS 9 are:

. Classification and measurement of financial assets. All recoqnised financial assets that
are withan the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give
rise on specifred dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, are generally measured at FVTOCL AII other debt investments
and equity investments are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

. Classification and measurement of financial liabilities. With regard to the
measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of a financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of such changes in other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a

financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as
fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

. Impairment. In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected
credit loss model, as oDposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.

. Hedge accounting. The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types
of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater
flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting,
specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the
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types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. ln
addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an
'economic relationship'. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer
required, Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity's risk manaqement activities
have also been introduced.

The management has not finalized the analysis of the Group's financial assets and liabilities as at
31 December 2017. On the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at that date, the
management of the Group anticipated that IFRS 9 mostly impacts trade receivables and loans
issued.

In general, the management anticipates that the application of the expected credit loss model of
IFRS 9 will result in earlier recognition of credit losses for the respective item and will increase
the amount of loss allowance.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for Tevenue

arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the cuTrent revenue recognition
guidance including IAS 1B Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
Interpretations when at becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Identify the contract with the customer;

Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

Determine the transaction Drice;

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts;

Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under tFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when or as a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when'control'of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obli9ation is

transferred to the customer, Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenaTios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.

In April 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the identification of
performance obliqations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application
guroance.

The management of the Group anticipates that the application of IFRS 15 in the future may have
a significant impact on the amount and timang of revenue recognition. However, it is not
Dracticable to orovide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until detailed review has

been completed.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and
accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease
guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is
controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance leases
(on balance sheet) are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees (i.e. all

on balance sheet) exceDt for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to
certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any



I

i

!
i

i

i

i

i

I

i
j

i

t

!

-

t

t

i

GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is ddjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments
under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows; whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease
payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing
and operating cash flows respectively.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

A preliminary assessment of potential lease contracts of gas stations indicates that these
arrangements may meet the definition of a lease under IFRS 16, however at present. it is not
practicable to provide reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 16 until a detailed review has
been completed.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

IFRIC 22 addresses how to determine the'date of transaction'for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of an asset, expense or income, when consideration for
that item has been paid or received in advance in a foreign currency which resulted in the
recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability (e.9. a non-refundable deposit or
deferred revenue).

The Interpretation specifies that the date of transaction is the date on which the entity initially
recognises the non-monetary asset oT non-monetary liability arising irom the payment or receipt
of advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Interpretation requires an entity to determine the date of transaction for each payment or receipt
of advance consideration.

The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier
application permitted. Entities can apply the Interpretation either retrospectively or prospectively.
Specific transition provisions apply to prospective application.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of this IFRIC will have a
material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements as the Group currently uses the
approach prescribed in IFRIC 22.

Amendments to IAS 4O Transfers of fnvestment Property

The amendments clarify that a transfer to, or from, investment property necessitates an
assessment of whether a property meets, or has ceased to meet, the definition of investment
property, supported by observable evidence that a change in use has occurred, The amendments
further clarify that situations other than the ones listed in IAS 40 may evidence a change in use,
and that a change in use is possible for properties under construction (i.e. a change in use is not
limited to completed properties).

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with
earlier application permitted. Entities can apply the amendments either retrospectively (if this is
possible without the use of hindsight) or prospectively. Specific transition provisions apply,

The management of the Group anticipates that the application of these amendments may have an
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements an future periods should there be a
change in use of any of its properties,

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

IFRIC 23 sets out how to determine the accounting tax position when there is uncertainty over
income tax treatments. The Interpretation requires an entity to:
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

. determine whether uncertain tax positions are assessed separately or as a group; and

. assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment used,
or proposed to be used, by an entity in its income tax filings:
. If yes, the entity should determine its accounting tax position consistently with the tax

treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax filings,
. If no, the entity should reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining its accounting

tax positjon.

The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with earlier
application permitted. Entities can apply the Interpretation either fully retrospectively (if it is
possible without the use of hindsight) or to apply modified retrospective approach without
restatement of comDaratives.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of this TFRIC will have a
material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements as the Group currently uses the
approach to recognition of uncertain tax position, which is consistent with IFRIC 23.

Annual Improvements to fFRS5 2014-2016 Cycle

The Annual Improvements include amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 which are not yet
mandatorily effective for the Company. The package also includes amendments to IFRS 12 which
is mandatorily effective for the Company in the current year - see the details of application in
section Amendments to IFRS5 affecting amounts reported in the financial statements.

The amendments to IAS 28 clarify that the option for a venture capital orqanisation and other
similar entities to measure investments in associates and joint ventures at FVTPL is available
separately for each associate or joint venture, and that election should be made at initial
recognition of the associate or joint venture. In respect of the option for an entity that is not an
investment entity (IE) to retain the fair value measurement applied by its associates and joint
ventures that are IEs when applying the equity method, the amendments make a similar
clarificatjon that this choice is available for each IE associate or IE loint venture. The amendments
apply retrospectively with earlier application permitted.

Both the amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018. The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of the
amendments in the future will have any impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements
as the Group is neither a first-time adopter of IFRS nor a venture capital organisation.
Furthermore, the Group does not have any associate or joint venture that is an investment entity.

Annuaf Improvements to IFRSS 2Ol5-2O17 Cvcle

Annual Improvements to IFRS5 2015-2017 Cycle makes amendments to several standards.

The amendments to IFRS 3 clariFy that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint
operation, it remeasuTes previously held interests in that business, The amendments to IFRS 11
clarify that when an entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity
does not remeasure previously held interests in that business.

The amendments to IAS 12 clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends (i.e. distribution
of profits) should be recognised in profit or loss, regardless of how the tax arises.

The amendments to IAS 23 clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that
an entity borrows generally when calculatjng the capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The management does not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have a
material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENER,GY CORPORATION GROUP

I{OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIfENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEIiIBER 2OU (CONTII{UED)

5. CONTRTBUTIOI{ OF INYESTIiIEIITS IN C POWER

On 13 March 2077, the Management of Georgian Industrlal Group Holding CParenf) made the
decision to contribute its Investments in subsidiary M Power to the capital of ceorgian
Internatonal Energy Corporation ("Company"). On the same date, the Company contributed
investments in M Power to the capital of lts subsldiary C Power. Following these transactons, M
Power ceased operations and merged wlth C Power.

Up to the date of the merger wlth C Poyver, M Power did not have any operational activities and
owned property and equipment in the amount of GEL 3,539, that was accounted for at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and lmpalrment. M Power did not have any activities slnce
inception, therefore the transaction described above, was accounted for as the acquisition of the
assets, rather than a business combination.

The property and equipment comprised of bulldlngs, turbo a99regates. transformers, generators
and other assets, which were of speclalized In nature and had very llmited use within M Power.

C Power ls In the process of constructlon of a coal-flred thermal power plant with capactty of 300
MW in Gardabani Munlclpallty. They identified an alternatlve way In which to maximise the value
of the combined assets. whlch has resulted in the recognltion of the contributed assets at falr
value GEL 134,417 thousand taking into account lts hlghest and best use value.

According to the accounting policy of the Group. acquisition of the assets from entities under
common control are initially recognised at falr value. The difference between the carrylng amount
of the assets before contributlon and the fair value at the date of contribution is recognised
dlrectly In equity within the retained eamlngs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The following table represents movements of property, plant and equipment for the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016

Land Hydro- Gas Machlnery Flxtures
bulldlngs and technlcal Plpe_ and Motor and

/n thousandg ofceorq,an Lari constructions structures lines equlpment vehicles fittlngs Total

CostAtlJa uarv 2016 46,028 29,520 3,433 49,377 3,078 1,634 a37.O7o

Additions
Disposals

lntra-9roup reclassifi cations

4,114 226 25

(2r7',) - (1s)
(se6) 22 (1os)

1,295 831
(e6) (1ee)

358 6,849
(27') (s54)
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At 31 Deceftbe.2ol5 49,329 29,76A 3,335 51,199 3,7aO 2,OZl !39,155

Additions
Disposals
Transfer from investment
property

Reclassification to inventory
Intra-9roup reclassif ications

501 153,160
( 113) (7,902)

- 11,434
- (183)

147

150,214
(J,481)

lt,434
(183)
(126)

14

(36;

At 31 D€cember 2017 203,1e7 29,7|82 3,306 53,156 3'AA]7 ]EEs

2,07 3
( 131)

1;

354
(177)

Accumulated depreciation
At l January 2016
Depreciatjon expense
Accumulated depreciation on
assets disposed

lntra-9roup reclass jfications

1,OO5 ?5,?r7
222 5,371

(18) (134)
(2)

5,974
481

(15)
(246)

2,O53
448

(6)
(103)

19,516
2.908

(15)
350

1,116
265

(7e)

s,652
647

1

At3r Docember 2016 6,594 6,300 2,392 22,75A \3OZ l,2OA 40,554

Depreciation expense
Accumulated depreciation on
assets dlsposed
lntra-group reclassif ications

1,038

(s3)
(66)

2,931

(100)

334

(114)

5,621

(348)

645 385

- (23)

247

(81)
89

At31 December 2017 7,513 6,945 2,755

Carrylng amount
At 31 Dec€mber 2015
At 31 December 2017

23,464 946
22t437 551

8r3 98,811
l,os3 25o,o47

42,735
19s,674

24,441
27,567

2,408
2,365

LI

L.
It

As of 31 December 2017, construction in progress, included under land, buildings, constructions,
turbo aggregates, transformers, generators and other assets amounted to GEL 122,636 thousand
(31 December 2016i GEL7,O7l thousand).

As of 31 December 2017, Wopefty, plant and equipment items with a carrying value of GEL
224,620 thousand (31 December 2016: GEL 80,488 thousand) were pledged to third parties as
collateral for borrowings (Refer to Note 14).

I

!

I
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

7, INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in the carrying amounts of the Group's investments properties were as follows:

In thousands of Georgian Lari 2017 2016

i

i

i

I

Investment properties at fair value as at l January

Additions
Transferred to property, plant and equipment
Sale of investment property
Gain on revaluation of investment orooerties

51,401

(11,434)_

r,492

5O,461

637

3o;t

i

I

t

I

t

t

!

t

a

i

-

Investment properties at fair value as at 3t December 41t47 5 51,401

As of 31 December 2017 the investment properties mainly consist of a residential complex in
Batumi which is currently under construction. As of 31 December 2016 the investment proOerties
mainly consisted of a residential complex in Batumi which was undeT construction and one
commercial building located in Tbilisi which was leased out primarily to related parties.

In 2017, the commercial building located in Tbilisi which was leased out primarily to related
parties ceased to meet the definition of investment property because it became owner occupied
and was transferred to property, plant and equipment.

As of 31 December 2017, investment properties with a carrying value of GEL 41,475 thousand
(31 December 2016: cEL 51,401 thousand) were pledged to third parties as collateral for
borrowings. (Refer to Note 14).

The fair value of the Group's investment property at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016
has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by an
independent valuator not related to the croup. It has appropriate qualification and recent
experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations.

Properties under valuation are general non-specialized buildings - residential houses, commercial
spaces and land plot. For the fair value estimation the appraiser applied the sales comparison
method, which is a generally accepted method for real estate valuation when there are enough
comparable in the open market. lvlethod reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties.

ln thousands of Georgian Lari Fair Value 31 December 31, Decefiber
Hierarchv 2Ol7 2016

a

'
j

a

Land and buildings Batumi, Rustaveli street
Land and buildings Tbilisi, Gazaphkhuli street

Level 3
Level 3

41,475 39,967
11,434

Investment properties at fair value
as at 31 December 41,475 51,4O1
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

A. LOANS ISSUED

In thousands of GeorgBn Lari
31 December 31 December

lnterest rate 2Ol7 2016

Non-current

Indivaduals
LLC Global International Energy Corporataon

L3 .Oo/o - 2O.Oo/o

lao/o
13 1B

7

Total 9.oss non-curent loans issued l3

Allowance for impairment of non-current loans

rl
t.
t;
LI
t-rl
t.
t:
1I

t-
at
t:
f;
t:rl
t:la

L:
LI

t:rl
L'
L'r
LI

L_-
l=
!

='-

Total non-current loans issued, net of allowance for impai.ment

In thousands of Georoian Lari
31 December 31 Decembe.

Interest rate 2077 2016

Current

LLC Saqnakhshiri
LTD Luraq Investments
LLC Geo Development
JSC Khashuri Glass Package
Individuals
LLC 1 Stereo
LLC Autogas
LLC Globaltrans
LLC Business Center Saburtalo

13 .60/0 - 16.00/o

9.60/o
8.30,6 - 11.10lo

t5.oo/o
LO .Bo/o - 22.4o/o

15.0olo
t5.oo/o
14.1o/o

9 60/o

15,948
6,922
4,561

809
376
370
319
159

1

10,354
4,628

528
410
293
299
186

Total gross current loans issued 29,465 r7,o35

t

t
Allowance for impairment of current loans (319) (29s)

t

i

-

i

i

-

I

-

-

.

!i

Total current loans issued, net of allowance for impairment 29,t46 15,737

As at 31 December 2OL7 and 2016 accrued interest included in loans issued amounted to GEL
5,540 thousand and GEL 4,284 thousand, respectively.

Loans issued partly consist of related party balances and are stated as current in the financial
statements based on contractual terms and these terms with related parties may change. Terms
and conditions of related oarw balances are disclosed in Note 26.

Fair value of loans issued as at 31 December 2017 approximated cEL 29,159 thousand (31
December 2016: GEL 16,762 thousand). All of the interest rates attached to the loans are fixed.
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OI7 (CONTINUED)

The loans issued are denominated in currencies as follows:

In thousands of Georgian La 31 December 2017 3l December 2Ot6

Loanr issued denominated in:

- US Dollars
. EUR

17,694

1,980

!!,207
5,262

293

15,76229,159Loans issued, net

rl

t.
t;
t-r-i
t-LIt:
]It:
ll

t:
L:
LI

L-LI

f;
L:
Itl

t_-a-
t-
It

t:
t:
L:
L..rl

L:tI
t-

The maturities of loans issued are as follows:

In thousands ol Georgian Lari 3l December 31 D€cember
2l,17 2016

Less than one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
Over five years

29,465
5

L7,O37

12

Total gross loans issued

LesS: Allowance for impairment

Loans issued, net of impairment allowance

29,479

(319)

29,t59

t7 to6l

(299)

16.762

Movement in impairment provision for loans issued during the reporting period was as follows:

In thousands of Georgian Lari 3t December 31 Decenbe3l December 31 Decenber

Provision foa impairment at I January

Provision for impairment of loans issueo 19

L

t

D

t

-

-

i
j

-

i

-

i

-

i

-

-

Provision for impairment at 31 Decembea 319 299

9. INCOME TAX

In thousands of Georgian Lari 2Ot7 2Ot6

Current tax expense
In respect of prior years
Deferred tax benefit

769
( 23)

( 14,516)

tncome tax benefit for the yeal (r3,77O)

In May 2016 the ceorgian parliament adopted and the president signed into legislation changes
to the corporate tax code, with changes applicable on 1 January 2017. The code is appljcable for
Georgian companies and permanent establishments ('PE's) of nonresident companies, apart from
certain financial institutions.
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

The previous profit tax regime, under which companies were subject to tax on their annual
taxable profits, is now changed to a system where tax will have to be paid only if corporate profits
are distributed.

The change has had an immediate impact on deferred tax of the Companies as it abolishes
temporary differences between a carrying value of certain assets and liabilities for financial
reporting pu.poses and their tax bases, Due to the changes of the tax legislation balance of
deferred tax asset attributable to previously recognized temporary differences arising from prior
periods was fully written off in the statement of profit and loss.

10. INVENTORIES

In thousands of Georgian Lari 31 December
20t7

31 Dece.nber
2016

7,654
309

6,77 5

302
Spare parts and consumables
Scrap and other materials

.i

!
.i

t

I

I

i

.

-I

:-

'.

I

a

-l

!t

!--
L!

l_
L'

I

.-

.D

.t

,D

Total inventories 7,963 7,O77

t 1. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

In thousands of Georgian Lari 3l December 31 December
2tJ17 2016

Trade receivables
Other fi nancial receivables
Less: impairment loss provision

20,786
508

( 1,311)

32,634
508

(1,4s4)

Total financial assets within trade and odier receivables 19,943 3r,684

Prepayments
Advances to employees
Other receivables

1,927
168
54

1,785
135
l7

Total trade and other receivables 22,132 33t625

t

-

D

t

As of 31 December 2017, gross trade receivables of GEL 1,876 thousand (31 December 2016:
GEL 2,057 thousand) were denominated in USD. All other trade receivables were denominated in
Georgian Lari, None of the trade receivables were subject to any interest or other penalties.

I

I

t
I

L

t

t

)

t

t

D

I

I
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

Analysis by credit quality of trade and other financial receivables is as follows:

In thousands of Georgian Lari
3l December

2()'.7
3l Decenber

2015

Neither past due nor individually impaired 13,190 20,o00

Total neither past due nor individually impaired 13,19O 20,0oo

Past due but not impaired
- less than 30 days overdue
- 30 to 90 days overdue
- 91 to 180 days overdue
- 181 to 360 days overdue
- over 360 days overdue

641
390
647
137

4 t965

2,452
144
427

1,376

Total past dqe but not individually irnpaired 6,420 11,854

1

2
1,24r

;
I,285

Individually determined to be impaired
- less than 30 days overdue
- 30 to 90 days overdue
- 91 to 180 days overdue
- 181 to 360 days overdue
- over 360 days overdue

ir
1l

Iri
l-
t!

t-l_
l!

Iri
l-rl
tri
I
t!

ll

t_
ll

L-
t

i

ii
L.
tt

L
It

t_
ll

:
i

a
i

=!
i

j

t
t

-
t

i

i

:
ii
t

Total individually imp.ired rt284 1,28E

Less impairment provision ( 1,311) (1,4s4)

Total trade and other financial receivables 19,943 31,644

Trade receivables past due and not impaired partly consist of related party customers. In some
cases, management may permit such debtors to delay repayment of the past due and not impaired
amounts. Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables was determined based on the
examination of customer payment trends, subsequent receipts and settlements and the analysis of
expected future cash flows of each individual significant customer,

Movement in provision for impairment of trade and other receivables during the reporting period
was as follows:

In thousands of Georgian Lari 2017 2016

Provision for impairment at l January

P.ovision for impairment of trade and other receivables
Recovery of provision against trade and other receivables

1,454

51
(194)

1,314

181
(4s)

P.ovision for impairment at 3l December

31

1,311 t,454
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

12. CASH AND CASH EQUTVALENTS

In thousands of Georgian Lari 31 December
2t)17

31 December
2016

Cash on hand
Bank balances payable on demand
Restricted cash

52
2,567

33

48
6,534

28

-i
:-

r

)

)

)

-t

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,652 6,61O

Banks with which the Group held cash had the following credit ratings as affirmed by Fitch's
Investor Services. For foreign subsidiary Georgian Banks which are not rated, parent Bank rating
were used for the following table:

31 December 31 Decefiber
In thousands of Georoian Lari 2Ol7 2016

7
5

BB-
BB+
B+

6,521
3

10

Total cash at banks 2,567 6,534

--!

2
a

t

-

All cash and cash equivalents are classified as current and not impaired. As of 31 December 2017,
GEL 404 thousand (31 December 2016: GEL 5,727 thousand) equivalent were held in USD and
GEL 28 thousand equivalent (31 December 2016: GEL 8 thousand) was denominated in EUR,

13. CHARTER CAPITAL

31 December 31 December
In thousands of ceorsian Lari 2l)t7 20r6

At l January
Increase in charter capital

)

-
t

!

D

a

a

t

D

D

t

a

I

At 31 December 7t72O 2t595

As at 31 December 2O1-7, r01o/o of ownership interest in the Company (31 December 2016:
100%) was held by LLC Georgian Industrial Group Holding.

On 1 February 2017 the Georgian Industrial Group Holding made a non-cash contribution into the
charter capital of Georgian International Energy Corporation in the amount of GEL 3,539.

On 25 and 25 December 2017 the Georgian Industrial Group Holding made a cash contribution
into the charter capital of Georgian International Energy Corporation in the amount of GEL 600
thousand and GEL 986 thousand, respectively.
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

i
14, BORROWINGS

In thousands of Georgian Lari

Cont.actual
interest rate (pel

annum)
31 December

2l'17
3l December

2016I

-

-

a

t

Non-current

Borrowings from non-related pafties
JSC TBC Bank
JSC Bank of Georgia

JSC WB Bank Georgia
JSC Bank Republic

Borrowings from related parties
lndaviduals

8.55o/o - 9.64o/o

10.57o/o - 10.56o/o

4.66o/o
7.000/0

9.13o/o

l5.00o/o - 15.44o/o

48,O33
4,222
2,16L
5,444

35,417
5,776_

6,708t

t
Total non-current borrowings 59,460 66,8ss

!

D

L'

L

Current

Borrowings from non-related padies
JSC Bank of ceorgia
JSC TBC Bank
VTB Bank Georgia
Individuals
JSC Pasha Bank
JSC Bank Republic
Riddlesford Financial SA

Bo.rowings f.om related parties
Individuals
LLC Air Company
LLC NGS Tsnori

t

)
j

D

D

6.000/o - 10.660/o
7 .500/0 - 9.640/0

7.QOo/o

13.00o/o

a.66o/o

6.300/o - 9.r3o/o
10.000/o

15.000/0 - 15.500/0

16.00o/o
16.00%

14,445
14,324

t4
450
301

9,766
4,389

1l
4t7

L7.765
1,O79

45
8,536

4A

Total current borrowings 34,122 33,561D

D

t

t

D

Total borrowings 97,942 too,416

All of the interest rates attached to loans are fixed except for borrowings from TBC, JSC Bank of
Georgia and JSC Pasha Bank Georgia, which represent 6 month LIBOR plus 7,81o/o, 9o/o and 7o/o
respectively. As at 31 December 2017 the estimated fair value of total borrowings approximated
GEL 97,982 thousand (31 December 2016: GEL 100,416 thousand).

The Group's loans and borrowings are denominated in currencies as follows:

In thousands of Georgian Lari 31 December 31 December
2'J17 2016

D

j

i

i

US Dollars
Euro

90,764

2,02r

94,540
3,890
1,986

)
Total borrowings

33

97 t9a2 1OO,4l5
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMAER 2017 (CONTINUED)

As of 31 December 2017, propefty, plant and equipment with a carryang value of GEL 224,620
thousand (31 December 2016: GEL 80,488 thousand) and investment properties with a carrying
value of GEL 41,475 thousand (31 December 2016: GEL 51,401 thousand) were pledged to third
parties as collateral for borrowings. Refer to Notes 6 and 7.

As at 31 December 2ol7 and 20L6 accrued interest included in borrowinqs amounted to GEL
1,054 thousand and GEL724 thousand, respectively,

The table below details changes in the Group's liabiljties arising from financing activities, includinq
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financinq activities,

l January Financing cash Interest Foreign
2Ol7 flows (i) changes (ii) exchange gain

31 December
2017

Borrowings 100,416 (1,999) 330 (76s) 97,942

The cash flows from loans from related pa.ties make up the net amount of proceeds from
borrowings and repayments of borrowings in the statement of cash flows.
Interest chanoes include interest accruals and Davments.

i)

ii)

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

In thousands of Georgian Lari 31 December 3l December
20t7 2016

Trade payables
Dividends payable
Salaries payable
Other payables

2L,357
103
24

1

24,478
510

19

I

t

D

Total financial liabilities within trade and other payables

Customer prepayments
Deferred revenues

21,479

402
425

25,OO7

590
304

D

D

D

)

D

I

i

.

t

Total trade and other payables 22,306 25,9O1

As of 31 December 2017, trade and other payables of GEL 169 thousand (31 December 2016:
GEL 189 thousand) were denominated in USD. All other trade and other payables were
denominated in Georglan Lari.

Deferred revenues represent the Group's obligation for use of loyalty card accruals. In October
2015 the Group launched a marketing campaign for stimulation of retail gas sales by developing a
loyalty card program, Retail customers are collecting money from purchase of natural gas and
later exchanging these tor additional 9as consumption. Accrued amount is available fo. less than
one-year period starting from the last accrual transaction date for each loyalty card.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group declared dividends with total amount of GEL
4,657 thousand. Dividends payable of GEL 5,064 thousand was paid in cash.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group declared dividends with total amount of GEL
4,817 thousand. Dividends payable of GEL 4,327 thousand was paid in cash.

D

'
j

j
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMAER 2017 (CONTINUED)

15. REVENUES

In thousands of Georgian Lari 2Of7 2016

Sale of Gas
Sale of gas - retail 47,298 38.B35
Sale of gas - wholesale - domestic clients ZO,Oa2 18,563
Sale of gas - retail from withdrawal of loyalty card accruals 1,259 1;083
Sale of qas - wholesale - export -

sare of erectricity 6a'639 5a'481

Sale of electricity - domestic clients 46,262 34.856
Tbilsresi TPP available capacity fee TO,ZSO 14,209
Sale of electricity - export ofetectricity (tradang) - a.129
Sale of electricity - export of electricity (own generation) 5,t75 6.532
Sale of electricity - Durchased outside the country (trading) - j;966

62,193 67.692

The company .eceives guaranteed capacity fee for maintaining Tbirsresi thermar power prant in
readiness to generate electricity at full capacity upon request from state-owned LLC Electricitv
System Commercial Operator. The export sales of electricity include sales made through barter
arrangement with Armenia-based thermal power plant operator. The Group receives nitural gas
in exchange for the electricity delivered through the barter agreement.

17. COST OF SALES

In thousands ofceorqkn Lari 2Ot7 2016

Cost of gas
Cost of qas purchased for subsequent resale 49,092 43,071

cost of etectricity 49'092 43'o7l

Cost of gas purchased for electricity generataon (Tbilsresi Tpp) 27,486 18,491
Cost of efectricity purchased outside the country - 3,729
Cost of electricity purchased for export resale - Z,OJ|
Cost of electricity purchased for import resale

Total revenues 130,832 t25,173

Overheads
Staff costs
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Repairs and maintenance
Utilities
lnsurance
Water supply services
Georgian National Energy and water supply regulalory commission
and other regulation fees
Transportation and car expenses
Security services
Operating lease expense for property, plant and equapment
Materials and consumables used
Information, consulting and other professional services 182 52othet 2,253 1,a42

t5,77 4 L4tEt4

t

a

a

I

I

a

I

I

a

r

27t446

1.656
764
650
472

397
255
239

24,292

5,296
3,164

993
661
648
451

374
246
239

226 296

I Total cost of sales

a

I

t

I

I

!
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATTON GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTTNUED)

1A. SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

In thousands of Georgian Lari 2ol7 2016

Staff costs
Electricity transfer fee
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Utilities
Operating lease expense for property, plant and equiPment
Repairs and maintenance
Transportation and car exPenses
Advertisement and publicity expenses
Materials and consumables used
Insurance
Information, consulting and other professional services
Georgian National Energy and water supply regulatory
commission and other regulation fees
Other

1,526
1,804

1.108
577
497
311
288
231
211

117

2,86s
4,246

1,690
550
424
271
314
265
191
195

124
369

Total selling and distribution exPenses 12,554 13,341

19. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

t^ 
'h^,'.)n.]c 

6t Go^rdian t ar' 2Ol7 2016
D

i

i

-

Information, consulting and other professional services
Staff costs
Representation expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Business traps
Transportation and car expenses
Insurance
Utilities
Telecommunications expenses
operating lease expense for property, plant and equipment
Repairs and maintenance
Other

3,283
2,468
1,030

745
470
230
133
131
107
54

289

2,503
2,545
7,062

407
686
231
r07
126
138

50
11

268

I

I

I

j

.

Total general and administrativ€ expenses a,973 4,134

20. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES, NET

In thousands of GeorQian Lari 2ol7 2016
D

D

D

l|.

Gains/(losses) on sale/disposal of property, plant and equipment
Rental income
Recovery (provision) of impaired trade and other receivables
Income from rendering of services
Penalties income
Derecognitaon of financial assets and liabilities, net
Taxes and duties
charity and sponsorshiP expenses
Penalty charges
Gains/(losses) on sale/disposal of spare parts, materials and scrap
Provision for imoairment of loans issued
Others, net

933

143
132

29
4

(2,242)
(403)
(234)
(64)
(19)
t73

(e7)
392

(124)
434

51
(2,324)

(s64)
(e0)

12
(27')

(178)

Total other operating exPenses, net

35
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

Penalty charges for the years ended 31 December 2oI7 and 2016 represent amounts for the late
payments on trade payables to counterDarties.

21. FINANCE COSTS

In thousands of Georgian Lari 2Ot7 2016

Interest expenses
Foreign exchange losses, net
Bank fees and charges

4,228

247

7,793
6,987

244

-
J

D

D

D

D

t

D

-

D

Total finance costs 8,475 15.024

22. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Ouring 2077, no additional acquisition of ownership interest has taken place.

On 16 June 2016, the Company acquired additional 14Vo ownership interest in LLC Adjara
Autogas by consideration paid of GEL 116 thousand and contribution of cEL 69 thousind fair
value loans issued and increased its ownership share up to 74yo.

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

credit risk' The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty wil not be
able to pay in full when due. Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group to credit risk,
consist principally of roans issued, trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The Group
has procedures in place to ensure that goods are supplied to customers with an appropriate c;edit
history, or alternative payment procedures are put in place otherwise (for example, advance
payments) The carrying amount of accounts receivable, the total of cash and cash equivalents
and loans issued represent the maximum amount exposed to credit risk, Althouqh collection of
receivables and loans issued courd be infruenced by economic factors, managemlnt berieves that
there is no significant risk of ross to the croup beyond the provisions arreadi recorded.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk since the customer portfolio is concentrated in a
small number of large naturar gas and erectricity purchasers. The table berow shows the trade
receivable balances, net of provision for impairment, of the 10 major customers at the reporting
dates, which constitutes 82o/o and g4o/o of total trade receivables as at 31 December 2ol) and
2015, respectively.

In thousancrs of Georgian Lari 31 D2eternber 31 Detember

LLC Saqnakhshiri
JSC Energo-Pro
Private Individuals
LLC Gas Energy
ESCO
LLL (ltooat trans
FORNOVOGAS
LLC Heidelbergcement ceorgia
LLC Georgian l4edia holding
LLC Azerenerji

5,827
4,O39
1,844

863
805

54r
533
455

7,41t
29

1,388
16,684

596

464
456

D

>

f

I

I

t.

D

t

!

i.

Total tE,o79 28,3aA

For details of significant loans issued, refer to Note B. surplus cash balances are placed in financial
institutions, which are considered at time of deposit to have a minimal risk of default.
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narket risk. The Group takes on exposure to market risks. Market risks predominantly relate to
the prices of goods determined by the market forces and thus setting limits on the price that can
be charged to the customer. Despite the Group having certain influence over the setting of some
of these prices for wholesale customers, its power is limited by actions of competitors such as LLC
Socar Gas (main national wholesale gas suppliers). In retail gas sales, the Group accepts prices
set by the market, where its primary competitors are LLC Wissol Petroleum and LLC Socar Gas.

During the reporting period, natural gas was primarily acquired from LLC Socar ceorgia Gas for
cash consideration. Price of gas purchased from LLC Socar Georgia Gas is agreed in advance

In addition, the Group has open currency position, which is exposed to general and specific
market movements. Management sets limits on the value of risk that may be accepted, whach are
monitored regularly as required. However, the use of this approach does not prevent losses
beyond these limits in the event of more significantly unfavourable market movements.
Geographica, risk. The Group's assets are located in Georgia. The country continues to display
certain characteristics of an emerging market. As such, the Group is exposed to any deterioration
of the business environment within Georgia.

The Group is also exposed to developments between the relations of Georgia and other countries,
particularly Azerbaijan and Armenia, Any events affecting the price of gas supplied would impact
the Group's ability to continue its activities in the ordinary course of business. Similarly, the
Group would be affected if its profitable barter transaction with Armenia-based thermal power
plant operator were hindered by government-imposed restrictions on export of the electricity
from Georgia.

Foreign exchange rr-sk, Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group has exposure to the effects of
fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash
flows. As of 31 December 2017, the Group had significant balances primarily in relation to certain
borrowings and trade receivables denominated in US Dollars and Euros.

At 31 December 2017, if the Georgian Lari had weakened/strengthened by 20 percent against the
US Dollar with all other variables held constant, Group's retained earnings would have been GEL
15,833 thousand (31 December 2016: cEL 16,359 thousand) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of US Dollar-denominated bank balances,
receivables. loans issued, borrowings and trade payables.

At 31 December 2017, if the Georgian Lari had weakened/strengthened by 20 percent against the
Euro with all other variables held constant, the Group's retained earnings would have been GEL
637 thousand (31 December 2016: cEL 718 thousand) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange losses/gains on translation of Euro-denominated borrowings.
The table below summarises the Group's exposure to foreign currency exchang€ rate risk at the
reporting dates:

In thousands of Georyiao Lari
3l December

20t7

-
-

D

D

j

D

j

j

j

j

D''

D

D

D

D

D

31 December
2016

USD - denominatedl
Monetary fi nancial assets
Monetary fi nancial liabilities

EUR - denominatedl
l.lonetary financial assets
Monetary financial liabilitaes

11,765
(90,928)

2,008
(s,193)

12,934
(94,728)

301
(3,890)f-

I USO net position
EUR net position

(79,163)
(3,185)

(81,794)
(3,589)

Capitat risk managemera The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concem while maximizing the return to stakeholders through
the oDtimization of the debt and eouitv balance.

I

38



l

I
E

I

I

r

-

-

-

GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

Consistent with others in the industry, the croup monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio, This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total caDital. Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings (including "current and non-cuTrent borrowings" as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as
'equity' as shown in the consolidated statement of flnancial oosition olus net debt.

In thousands of Georgian Lari
3l December

20t7
31 December

2016

- Tota I borrowings (Note 14)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 12)

97,982
(2,6s2)

100,416
(6,610)

Net debt
Total equity 235,765

93,806
90,983

331,09 5 144,749Total capital

)

D

D

D

-

Net debt to equity ratio
Gearing ratio

40olo
29o/o

1O3o/o
5lolo

D_-

D]

D,-

D

D

D

D

D:

!

tr

Ir

Liquidity risk. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding with an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining access to the debt capital and by continuously
monitoring forecasted and adual cash flows. Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating
entities of the Group and aggregated by Group finance. Such forecasts take into consideration the
Group's debt refinancing plans. Group finance monitors rolling forecasts of the croup's liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient
headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group does not
breach borrowing limits.

The Company's liquidity reserve comprised of undrawn borrowing facility and cash and cash
equivalents (Note 12). As of 31 December 2017, GIEC had undrawn borrowing facilities from
commercial banks amounting to GEL 193 thousand (31 December 2016: cEL 4,860 thousand).

The table below shows liabilities analysed by their remaining contractual maturity. The amounts
disclosed in the maturity table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including gross loan
commitments. Such undiscounted cash flows differ from the amount included in the consolidated
statement of financial position because this amount is based on discounted cash flows.

When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed is determined by reference to the
conditions existing at the reporting date. Foreign currency payments are translated using the spot
exchange rate at the reporting date.

The maturity analysis of contractual payments as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

From I
Le99 than I to From 2 to Over 5

In thousands of Georgian Lari yea. 2 years 5 vears years lolal
Trade and other payables
Borrowin9s

(2r,479)
(43,107) (20,081) (37,077)

- (2r,479)
(15,773) (116,038)

(64,585) (20,081)Total financial payables
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP
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The maturity analysis of contractual payments as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

From 1
Less than I to

In thousands of Georqian Lari year 2 y€arc 5 years years Total
From 2 to Over 5

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

(2s,o071
(38,962) (2s,098) (37,4es) (7e,649)

(25.OO7 )
(r2r,2o4)

-

-

-

-
j

D

t

Total financial payables (63,969) (25,098) (37Aes) (1e,64e) (146,211)

Management believes that increased draw on the Group's liquidity will be addressed by obtaining
new credit facilities from commercial banks or reducing interest rates on existing borrowings,
further improving management of cost base, increasing output and actively seeking out new
contracts,

Intercst rate risk Interest rate risk is the exposure of the Group's financial position to adverse
movements in interest rates, which is expressed by an increase in the interest amounts against
attracted funds or by a decrease in income received from allocated funds. The Group does not
have a formal policy of determining how much of the Group's exposure should be to fixed or
variable rates. However, as at reporting date, all of the interest rates attached to loans are fixed
except for borrowings from TBC (Previous Bank Republic Loan), JSC Bank of Georgia and JSC
Pasha Bank Georgia, which represent 6 month LIBOR plus 7.87o/o,9o/o and 7o/o respectively.

Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce or create losses in the
event that unexpected movements arise. The Group does not hedge its interest rate risk.

The table below summarises weighted-average contractual interest rates on interest-bearing
financial assets and liabilities as at reporting dates, based on reports reviewed by key
management personnel:

J

D]

D]

D

D

D

D]

rl

W"iqht"d-uu"ruq" o/o p"|. unnrrn

Loans issued

Related parties
Non-related parties

14.53o/o 9.300,6 ls.4Ioh
L7.840/o 10.800/0

15.560/o 9.640/o 15.00o/o
lJ.O7o/o lo.a0o/o

Borrowings

Related parties
Non-related parties

15.03o/o 15.00o/o 15.24o/o
13.00o/o 8.30o/o

15.03% 15.00o/o 13.24o/o
13.OOo/o 8.16% 8.00o/o
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24. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

IFRS defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, The
estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using available
market information, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However,
judgement is necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value.
ceorgia continues to display some characteristics of an emerging market and economic conditions
continue to limit the volume of activity in the financial markets. lvlarket quotations may be
outdated or reflect distress sale transactions and therefore not represent fair values of financial
instruments. Management has used all available market information in estimating the fair value of
financial instruments.

Financial asseb carried at amortised cosl, The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate
instruments is based on estimated future cash flows exDected to be received discounted at
current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity,
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GEORGIAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CORPORATION GROUP

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

Discount rates used depend on credit risk of the counterparty. carrying amounts of trade
receivables and other financial assets aD9roximate fair values due to their short term maturities.

Liabilities carried at amortised cost The estimated fairvalue offixed interest rate
instruments with stated maturity was estimated based on expected cash flows discounted at
current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.
Management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of financial liabilities recorded in
the financial statements approximate their fair values.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents was determined using level 1 measurement and the
fair value of other financial assets and liabilities were determined usinq level 3 measurement.

25, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal proceedings. From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the
Group may be received. On the basis of its own estimates, as well as internal and external
professional advice, management is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in
respect of claims. Therefore, no provisions for litigations and claims have been made in these
consolidated financial statements.

Taxation. Georgian tax legislation in particular may give rise to varying interpretations and
amendments, In addition, as management's interpretation of tax legislation may differ from that
of the tax authorities, transactions may be challenged by the tax authorities, and as a result the
Group may be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest. The Group believes that it has
already made all tax payments, and therefore no allowance has been made in the consolidated
financial statements. Tax years remain open to review by the tax authorities for three years.

Commitments assumed under the auction for Tbilsresi assets.

As a result of succeeding in the auction for JSC Tbilsresi assets on 23 February 2010, among
other obligations, the Company assumed commitments to ensure the following:

. Proper operation of electricity generating units, in accordance with the requests of licensing
authorities;

. Proper maintenance of the existing capacity (272 megawatts) at least by 2025;

. Construction of a coal power plant with the capacity of 100-150 megawatts in Gardabani and
putting the plant into operation not later than 31 December 2013;

. Storage of state-owned fuel oil in its Teservoirs, free of charge.

On 23 October 2015 the Company signed an agreement with Ministry of Economy and
Sustainable Development of Georgia and Ministry of Energy of Georgia with the aim to amend and
clarify obligations arising from the auction for JSC Tbilsresi assets on 23 February 2010. Under
new agreement the Company is obliged to:

r Until 30 July 2020 put into operation coal-fired thermal power plant with capacity of 100-
150 lvlW in Tkhibuli municipality;

. Begin the construction of the coal-fired thermal power plant no later than 30 September
2016.

on 4 July 2016 the Company signed an amendment to the construction of coal-fired thermal
power plant in Tkhibuli municipality with Ministry of Energy of Georgia and LLC Electricity System
Commercial Operator ("ESCO"). According to the amendment the Company assumed commitment
to put into operation coal-fired thermal power plant with capacity of 150-300 Mw (+/-10o/o) in
Gardabani municipality until 31 luly 2020.

The Company met currently all of the commitments and is in the construction process of the new
coal-fired thermal power plant with capacity of 300 MW in Gardabani municipality.

EnvironmenEl matteis. Emerging markets such as Georgia are subject to different risks than
more developed markets; these include economic, political and social, and legal and legislative
risks. Laws and regulations affecting businesses in Georgia continue to evolve rapidly with tax
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and regulatory frameworks subject to varying interpretations. The future direction of Georgia's
economy is heavily influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted by the government,
together with developments in the legal, regulatory, and political environment.

For the last two years Georgia has experienced a number of legislative changes, which have been
largely related to Georgia's accession plan to the European Union. Whilst the legislative changes
implemented during 2016 and 2Ol7 paved the way, more can be expeded as Georgia's action
plan for achieving accession to the European Union continues to develop.

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Control relationshr?s. The Company's immediate parent is LLC Georgian Industrial Group
Holding which has been established under Georgian legislation and has a legal address at
Gazapkhuli str. # 18, Tbilisi Ol77 , Georgia. LLC Georgian Industrial Group Holding is controlled by
Chemexim International Limited 8.V., which has been established under the laws of the Republic
of the Marshall Islands and has legal address at Trust Company Complex, Ajeltake Road, Ajeltake
lsland, Majuro, Marshall Islands, MH96960. Chemexim International Limited is controlled by Mr.
David Bejhuashvili, who is the ultimate controlling party of the Group.

The most significant transactions are associated with issuing of loans and transactions that are
part of the Company's business, such as the supply of natural gas.

Transactions and batances with related parties, Parties are generally considered to be
related if the parties are under common control or if one party has the ability to control the other
party or can exercise significant influence or joint control over the other party in making financial
and operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is
directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.

At 31 December 2017, outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

Other
.elated

L trousards of Georgrar lari conpanies control Associates padiesr

Immedi.te or Entities
intermediaay under

parent commonL-

Gross amount of trade receivables
Impairment provision for trade and
other receivables
Gross amount of loans issued
(contractual interest rate: 8.30o/o-20.Oolo p.a.)
Impairment provisions for loans issued
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

69 5,499 350

35

24,209_

740

4,904
319

8,536
103
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The income and expense items with related parties for the year ended 31 December 2017 were
as follows:

In thousands of Georcian Lari

tmmediate or Entities
intermediaiy under

patent common
comganies contfol

Other
related

Associates Darties*

]t

.

-

r-
L_
LIJ

fd
L._L!

-

E

J
-

-t

Sale of gas - wholesale - domestic clients
Sale of gas - retail
Sale of electricity - domestic clients
Rental ancome
Provision for impairment of loans issued
Interest income
Interest expenses
Other income and expenses
Gains less losses on sale/disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gains less losses on sale/disposal of spare
parts, materials and scrap
Income from rendering of servlces
Operating lease expense for property, plant
and equipment
Inforrnation, consulting and other professional
services
Water supply services
Repairs and maintenance
lnsurance
Other

- 1,214 BB5
-4
_ 186
8 121 27

- 1.837

-39

1-

20

1,095

102
81

54

2.614
126
475-

10

t-
At 31 December 2016, outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

.t-

In thousands of Georgian Lari

Other
related

Associates Darties*

lmmediate oa
intermediaJy

parent
companies

Entities
under

common
controli

t:
'_J

Gross amount of trade receivables
Impairment provision for trade and
other receivables
Gross amount of loans issued
(contractual interest rate: 9,60/o-20,Oo/o p.a,)
Impairment provisions for loans issued
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

8,858

35

10,964_

719

308

5,701
299

6,794
510
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The income and expense items with related parties for the year ended 31 December 2016 were
as follows:

In thousands of Geerqian Lari

Other
related

Associates Darties*

lmmediate or
intermediary

Parent
compEnles

Entities
under

common
control

r
L-

_t

_t

t

l:

I
_*

J-'i

Sale of gas - wholesale - domestlc cllents
Rental income
Rendering of servaces
Impairment of trade and other receivable
Impairment of loans issued
Interest income
Interest expense
Losses on sale of spare parts, materials and
scrap
Losses on sale of prcperty, plant and
equrpmenr
Operating lease expense for
property, plant and equiprnent
Information, consulting and
other profussional servjces
Water supply services
Repair5 and maintenance

714 | 4in
t42 36

98;
19

-;.!

r--

151

90

138

1,805
L24
195

For the year ended 31 December 2017, consulting expenses in the amount of GEL 2,805
thousand were capitalized on construction of C-Power LLC. Consulting services were provided by
entity under common control Georgian Industrial Group LLC.

* Other related parties include family members of the ultimate controlling party.

Key management compensation, Key management includes member of the Board of
Directors. Compensation paid to key management for their services in full time executive
management positions is made up of a contractual salary, performance bonus depending on
financial performance of the Group and other compensation in form of reimbursement of business
trips, fuel and communication expenses. Total compensation for key management personnel
amounted to GEL 594 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: GEL 561 thousand)
and was fully comprised of short-term employee benefits,

27. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

No significant events occurred after the reporting date.
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